
June 13, 2009 
 
To: Eric Holder 
US Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice  
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW  
Washington, DC 20530-0001  
Fax: 202-307-6777 
 
By fax and mail  
  
 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT  
 

Complainant: Wanxia Liao 
Address: 7 Beatrice Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M6J 2T2 

Tel: (416) 537-0656 
Citizenship: Canadian 

 
 

Complaint against crimes committed on me by the following persons: 
 
(1), James Cahill 
Official identity: Professor Emeritus, Art History Dept., University of California. 
Address: 4085 West 40th Ave. Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6N 3B9 
 
(2), John Do (Yahoo ID: cpetr13) 
American citizen. Real name and location unknown.  
  
(3), Michael Laurenson,  
Official identity: lawyer, Gordon & Rees LLP. Address: 275 Battery Street, Suite 2000, 
San Francisco, CA 94111. Tel: (415) 986-5900 
 
 

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 
 
[1]. James Cahill committed federal crimes: (1) Perjury, in violation of Title 18, Section 
1621 of USC; (2) False declarations before grand jury or court, in violation of Title 18, 
Section 1623 of USC. 
 
In the processes of my civil rights cases in federal District Court for the Northern District 
of California, on May 1, 2005, Cahill knowingly made false material declaration under 
penalty of perjury for his and his wife’s residential and employment histories. And for the 
same issue, Cahill under penalty of perjury has knowingly made two declarations, which 
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are inconsistent to the degree that one of them is necessarily false. He and his wife’s 
residential and employment histories became the most crucial issue decisively material to 
my case, as under s. 351 of California Code of Civil Procedures, Cahill’s absence periods 
from California shall be tolled unless his absence was for purpose of his and his wife’s 
employment in other states.  While under penalty of perjury, Cahill made materially false, 
fictitious, and fraudulent statements that falsified his and his wife’s residential and 
employment histories, and concealed the most crucial material facts about his and his 
wife's employment histories and their separate residential histories. The federal District 
Court dismissed my civil rights case against him based on these false facts in this 
Declaration.  
 
[ 2]. John Doe (Yahoo ID: cpetr13) 
John Do (cpetr13) committed federal crime, in violation of Section 245 of the USC: 
Federally protected activities.  
 
While I was posting on Yahoo’s Message Board to publicize my story in December of 
2005, John Do threatened me with forced disappearance that the US government can 
make me “disappear”, and he also made death threat on December 27, 2005 that some 
“people and organizations” will “eliminate” me. These are threats to my right to security 
of life and liberty that intimidated my enjoyment of right to free speech and right to 
access to court, guaranteed by the US Constitution.  
 
[3]. Michael Laurenson committed federal crimes: Subornation of perjury, in violation of 
in violation Title 18, U.S.C., Section 1622.  
 
As counsel for Cahill in both state and federal court, Laurenson willfully committed 
Subornation of perjury in aid of Cahill.  
 
 

CHRONOLOGY OF FACTS 
 

{ I }. The racial harassment at U of T 
 
In 1991, when I was a MA student at the University of Toronto, Canada, I had an 
academic dispute with a professor in East Asian Studies Dept., David Waterhouse. 
Waterhouse made a finding that "beautiful" is a European concept and Asians did not 
have the concept in history, because it was the "first aesthetic response in history" that 
Adam and Eve in Bible story found the trees "pleasant to sight", yet the Japanese word 
and Indian word "beautiful" did not originally mean what Adam and Eve felt. 
Waterhouse then called to establish a "biological/racial approach" to art history studies 
that stemmed out from an art history theory formulated in 1930's Germany which was 
criticized by American Jewish art historian Schapiro as "significantly promoted race 
feelings" in history. 
 
I asked Waterhouse about the origin of English word "beautiful" and he checked out that 
it was borrowed from Latin language; I submitted to him that the Chinese word 
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"beautiful" originally meant "pleasant to sight". Then I found myself being subject to 
Waterhouse's prejudice that "Poor Chinese still want to claim historical inventions" in the 
next class. In response I provided him in my term paper with material evidences not only 
from the Chinese but some other sources to prove that the concept of "beautiful" is 
universal to all human beings in history. I also questioned his "biological approach" 
theory and asked him to give more explanation on it. 
 
While admitting to me by writing that he had to agree with my findings on the concept of 
beauty, Waterhouse took a reprisal harassment against me that was purposed to interfere 
with my Ph.D application and that consisted of a series of fraud, in violation of the 
university's grading systems, and academic regulations. The fraud and violations so far 
known to me are: a). Waterhouse frauded a  “final grade” of the course for me while the 
course was still in progress and submitted this grade to the Graduate School and the 
department admission committee for its admission and scholarship ranking meeting; b). 
when submitting this fraudulent grade, Waterhouse bypassed the Chair of the department 
for grade reviewing as required by the university's grading policy, and the then Chair is 
Asian in ethnicity (Korean); c). Waterhouse provided a reference letter for my Ph.D 
application in that he committed fraud to identify himself as my program supervisor to 
magnify his capacity in his objection of my application; d). his objection to my 
application was based on this fraudulent grade “B” and an erroneous judgement that my 
academic preparation for another academic field - Chinese literature studies was 
inadequate, despite as an art history course instructor, Waterhouse had no academic 
capacity to make the judgement. This is a very serious fraud and by the University's 
policy it would subject Waterhouse to serious sanction. To cover up this fraud then was 
the motive for all the following persecutions on me in that Cahill played a key role.  
 
As a result of this harassment, my Ph.D application was rejected by the departmental 
Admission Committee at U of T. I then lost my best and last chance to study for Ph.D. 
When my complaint continued to the OHRC after the U of T dismissed it, I was fired by 
the university from my counter help position at the university's cafeteria without even an 
explanation. I lost my only income and suffered tremendous financial difficulties in that 
time of serious economic recession in Canada. As a result I could not even complete my 
MA program and had to drop out of the school, and consequently lost all my 
opportunities to enter a Ph.D program. I then lost my entire academic career. 
 
{ II }.The conspiracy to cover up the fraud at the Ontario Human Rights Commission
 
In 1993, I filed a formal complaint with the Ontario Human Rights Commission against 
Waterhouse and U of T. During the investigation process, the OHRC obtained my 
academic file at the U of T so had acquired full knowledge on what had transpired at U of 
T about the grade. However, not only did the OHRC never disclose the content of that 
communication to me, but also it actively covered up all other relevant evidences 
surrounding this grade for the Defendants. For instance, the OHRC refused to disclose to 
me the substantial investigation results such as the key documentary evidences in my 
academic file, the interview results with key witnesses of the misreported grade in the 
Department - the then Chair, Prof. Beck, the then Graduate Coordinator, Prof. Ward, etc. 
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The Commission even concealed the information to me that the interviews had been 
conducted.  
 
Then Cahill willfully took his own initiative to join this conspiracy. At the time my term 
paper for Waterhouse’s course was also in dispute because I claimed that the grade B 
Waterhouse gave to my paper did not fairly reflect the academic merits of my paper, but 
was caused by that in that paper I further challenged Waterhouse’s theory on the “concept 
of beauty” as response to his prejudice expressed in class that “poor Chinese still want to 
claim historical inventions.  
 
The OHRC took over the re-evaluation of my paper in its investigation process on the 
terms and conditions stipulated by U of T's official policy on External Rereading of 
Graduate Students' Works and agreed by parties. As additional terms, I designated two 
experts and university professors in Chinese art history to reread my paper, one of them 
was Cahill. On November 22, 1994, Cahill called the OHRC officer in charge of my case, 
Alan Strojin, commented that my paper was “Quit good”. However, he was reluctant to 
give a written grade as he was supposed to do, and said he would not get involved in an 
unknown situation, as he himself had problems with some of his Chinese students before 
as well. He then inquired about the situation surrounding my paper at the OHRC. This is 
a violation of the confidentiality rule stipulated by the rereading instrument that the 
evaluator is forbidden to know the circumstances surrounding the paper in dispute. The 
OHRC officer Strojin briefly informed him about my human rights complaint against 
Waterhouse at the OHRC. Cahill then requested to get a copy of waterhouse’s article in 
dispute, exceeding his role as a re-evaluator of my paper only as stipulated in the written 
instrument for the rereading to him. 
 
In April of 1995, Cahill returned a written evaluation of my term paper and also 
Waterhouse’s article. In it his initial oral assessment of my paper "Quite good” became 
the same grade B+ that Waterhouse gave to me for reasons same as that of Waterhouse. 
He also says that I "misunderstood" Waterhouse's article because of my "poor English". 
The Commission dismissed my complaint in 1997 solely on basis of this "Expert 
Opinion", and bypassed the issue of the fraudulent grade by a vogue opinion that it was a 
"question of credibility". 
 
{ III }.The conspiracy to entrap me for criminal prosecution  
 
( A ) Planned entrapment to prosecute me for purpose of my human rights case 
 
In order to suppress my still persistent pursuit of the discovery, the OHRC conspired with 
the U of T and Cahill for a brutal criminal prosecution on me by plotting an entrapment. 
The Commission fist deceived me by telling me that under the Commission's 
confidentiality rule: "Everything you tell the Commission is only between you and the 
Commission", and that I had the duty to tell the Commission "everything true". Then the 
investigator Strojin used my trust on this confidentiality rule to frequently solicit my 
angry expressions by asking me incriminating questions over our telephone 
conversations.  Then the prosecution was directly initiated in April of 1995 by Cahill's 
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Opinion. In it, while backing up Waterhouse, Cahill deliberately disclosed his breach of 
the rereading’s confidentiality rule policy to have detailed exchange of information with 
U of T about my paper, indicated the valuable academic merits of my paper and problems 
of Waterhouse's article, and even acknowledged his political consideration for this 
Opinion that “some knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the paper and the grade 
certainty complicates the matter”.  All of these were to openly disclose his collusion with 
the U of T and the OHRC to me to provoke my anticipated anger. (As the letter written 
by U of T lawyer Blight indicates that the U of T and the OHRC had already prepared for 
my anger to the Opinion shortly before it arrived). Then Strojin, when informing me 
about this Opinion over the phone, asked me "What are you gonna do now?" Then he 
passed my angry crying "If they are going to kill me, I'm going to kill them, too!" to U of 
T party, charging me with a criminal offence of "Uttering Death Threat to Waterhouse" 
The police laid the charge against me after the U of T's complaint in May of 1995.  
 
The OHRC, U of T, the police and the prosecutors in fact all knew that I did not pose any 
real threat to any one, as even the informant Strojin testified to the police at my first 
arrest that I "does not pose a real threat to the victim", and I assured the police at the 
same time that I would not do such a thing, and I was only angry when I answered 
Strojin's questions.  
 
This entrapment that is unlawful under the Canadian laws. S. 13 of the Canadian Charter 
of Rights and Freedoms that provides the right against self-incrimination: "A witness 
who testifies in any proceedings has the right not to have any incriminating evidence so 
given used to incriminate that witness in any other proceedings, except in a prosecution 
for perjury or for the giving of contradictory evidence".  My alleged "threats" were made 
in the proceeding of my case at the OHRC, in reply to the OHRC's questioning, then such 
testimony cannot be used to incriminate me at law, since I was not prosecuted for perjury. 
Yet the court found me guilty and so endorsed that the Canadian government with one 
hand actually induced my conduct that it prosecuted as illegal with the other hand. My 
case has posted a menace to human rights complainants in Canada. As Strojin testified at 
the trial, he had “regularly” witnessed the OHRC’s complainants making “death threats”. 
Now my conviction obviously sets a precedent at law and a threat to those human rights 
complainants in Canada that they maybe justifiably set up for criminal prosecution by 
government if their cases are really perceived as a threat to the Whites’ privileges. 
 
Further, this political persecution had a specific political purpose to directly interfere with 
my then ongoing human rights case at the OHRC - to cut off my then persistent pursuit of 
my case. This can be best demonstrated by the "bail condition" that was imposed on me 
by the police on May 10, 1995 at the arbitrary detention of me. It reads that I "Can not 
initiate any contact with any member of the Ontario Human Rights Commission". I 
appealed to the Ontario Judicial Review Council against this condition on grounds that it 
deprived my human right guaranteed by Ontario Human Rights Code, since under the 
Code, every person in Ontario, even a convicted criminal would have human rights and 
would be afforded with a legal means of redress whenever he believes that his human 
right was infringed; and the only legal channel for such redress was supposed to be the 
OHRC. However, my appeal was dismissed without even a hearing. This condition 
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remained standing throughout the whole process of the prosecution on me for a period of 
5 years. 
  
Considering that my alleged victim of "Uttering Death Threat" was not at the OHRC, and 
except Strojin, all other "any member of the Ontario Human Rights Commission" were 
irrelevant to the alleged offence, so that can not be considered as witnesses to the 
prosecution, there was certainly no need to "ensure the safety and security of any victim 
or witness to the offence" (intended by the Criminal Code). The purpose of this bail 
condition was very clear: to halt my then persistent pursuit of the discovery for my 
human rights case at the OHRC. And it did effectively cut off my pursuit of the discovery 
for my case at OHRC since then because of the loss of contact with the OHRC, (the 
OHRC never contacted me for my case). Consequently it enabled the OHRC to continue 
its cover up for Waterhouse, and dismiss my complaint as a result in 1997. 
 
For purpose of the persecution, the OHRC officer Strojin even committed crimes such as 
perjury and falsifying evidences in my criminal trial. And as the prosecution's privilege 
provided by Canadian law, the prosecutor elected "summary trial" so to bypass a jury to 
decide on my case, and to hand the case to the decision of one judge. My trial spread out 
for seven days over a period from January to June, 2000, and I was found guilty by Judge 
Knazan on the second count of “Uttering Death Threats causing Waterhouse to receive 
threats”, (while the first count of same charge was dismissed), and was sentenced to a 
Conditional Discharge. 
 
( B ) Criminalizing me for a fabricated “crime”  
 
I was criminalized for a fabricated crime – a crime that had not even happened as fact. 
After my complaint was transferred to be handled by Strojin at the OHRC, he began to 
solicit my replies by asking incriminating questions such as “What are you going to do if 
your case cannot be resolved at the OHRC?” And in desperation caused by U of T’s 
wrongful dismissal retaliation causing my loss of the only income source, I made angry 
expressions to Strojin. In April of 1995, when I was first time charged, same as all my 
previous ones, my angry expression was still only randomly made, not targeting any 
specific person. These facts were all not in dispute at trial. Yet I was charged for 
“Uttering death threat causing Waterhouse to receive threat”. 
 
This is a fabricated “crime”, as my alleged “criminal acts” as stated in the charge never 
happened. 1) As an undisputed fact at trial, I did not specify any specific person in my 
alleged “threats”, including Waterhouse. Therefore I threatened no any specific person, 
including Waterhouse. The act alleged in the charge that I threatened Waterhouse did not 
exist as fact. 2) Also as undisputed fact at trial is that Waterhouse was not aware of the 
alleged threats until I was charged for causing him to receive threats. Therefore, the fact 
alleged in the charge that I caused Waterhouse to receive death threats, also did not exist 
as fact.  
 
The next day after I was arrested for the first count of charge, I telephoned Strojin to 
inquire about why the police would allege me “uttering death threats” at the OHRC. 
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Strojin told me a lie that he knew nothing but heard some of my “colleagues at U of T” 
told the police. Strojin used this deceit to further provoke my anger to instill my angry 
expression and indeed achieved his purpose. I never had any “colleagues” at U of T, so I 
believed some people at the U of T had set me up for criminal persecution for my case at 
the OHRC. In a great rage and desperation, I said: “If I was only angry before, when I got 
out of jail, it’s real time to kill!” Strojin again called the U of T, I was charged with a 
second count of “Uttering death threat causing Waterhouse to receive death threat”.  
 
I was found guilty on this second count of charge. I testified at trial that when I allegedly 
committed this second count, I was merely venting my rage at those unknown 
“colleagues” who as I thought (as a result of Strojin’s deceit) had set me up for 
prosecution to police. I did not have Waterhouse on my mind because the conversation I 
had with Strojin was to find out that who called the police to get me charged. I only 
learned it was some unknown “colleagues”, not Waterhouse, and I knew by that time, it 
was the whole institution of U of T that had already joined the persecution on me. 
However, even I myself did not know any identifiable target of my “threat” in my mind 
at that time, the judge knew. Judge Knazan said: “But she is not the best witness as to 
what was in her mind in May of 1995.” He found it was Waterhouse in my mind merely 
by an “inference”: “she meant Waterhouse”, and said “a court can find facts based on 
inferences”. This finding of what I “meant” was contrary to what really in my mind at the 
time, so it was not “inference” but fabrication. 
 
Nevertheless, even though Judge Knazan were the real “witness” to my mind than myself 
when I allegedly committed the crime, he only witnessed what in my “mind”, he did not 
find that he witnessed my physical acts of threatening Waterhouse. Clearly the court 
convicted me merely for what I thought, not for what I actually did. The Canadian law 
only punishes criminal conducts. Without actual criminal acts (“guilty deeds”), criminal 
minds (“guilty minds”) are not punishable by law. The alleged crime did not happen, 
therefore it is clearly I was only criminalized on basis of a fabricated crime by the 
government of Canada. This is unprecedented in Canadian legal history, as no Canadian 
case laws show such a case that a person has ever been charged and convicted for a crime 
that had not actually happened.  
 
Moreover, in finding me guilty on the second count of the charge, not only did the court 
failed to prove the actual crime – my “guilty act” as charged, had occurred, but also, it 
did not prove the other basic element of a crime – the “guilty mind” of me as accused. 
The "subjective fault element" is also mandatory requirement under the Criminal Code 
for proving the crime of “uttering death threat”, that one must "knowingly" cause others 
to receive threats. As admitted by the Judge that when I allegedly committed the second 
count of charge, because of Strojin's lies, I still had not discovered the fact that the 
OHRC had already breached its unconditional confidentiality guaranty to me. As a result, 
it was still not foreseeable for me that my words at the OHRC could be passed to the 
alleged victim to cause "threat". Without perceiving that such a consequence of my words 
could be possible, it was logically impossible for me to form an intention to achieve this 
consequence. Therefore, even if some “criminal acts” had been committed, I could not 
have committed it “knowingly”. There is no basis at law to convict me for that. This 
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prosecution is doubtlessly unlawful, and is a politically motivated racial/political 
persecution.  
 
{ IV }. Cahill’s perjury and Laurenson’s subordination of perjury  
 
On May 9, 2002, I filed a complaint in San Francisco Superior Court against Defendants 
James CAHILL for (1) conspiracy to interfere with civil rights in violation of 42 U.S.C., 
s. 1985, and (2) racial discrimination. Cahill demurred to my 1st Amended Complaint on 
September 9, 2002 and 2nd Amended Complaint in May, 2003 on grounds that my action 
was barred by statute of limitations as against him. For this Demurrer Cahill executed a 
Declaration on February 13, 2003, stating his and his wife’s residential and employment 
histories. In response I asserted that the statute of limitations was tolled under s. 351 of 
the California Code of Civil Procedures, since Cahill had been absent from the state after 
the accrual of the causes of my action and s. 351 provides the absence of a defendant 
from State of California is tolled for statute of limitations. S. 351 of the CCP provides: 
"If, when the cause of action accrues against a person, he is out of the State, the action 
may be commenced within the term herein limited, after his return to the State, and if, 
after the cause of action accrues, he departs from the State, the time of his absence is not 
part of the time limited for the commencement of the action."  
 
- Exhibit 1: Cahill’s Declaration to San Francisco Superior Court. 
 
I abandoned my state court case and re-filed the complaint with federal district court of 
Northern California in June, 2003. In federal court, the issue of statute of limitations was 
raised again by Cahill because of the tolling statue s. 351 of CCP. Cahill claimed that he 
moved out of California "because of new jobs either he or his wife obtained", so s. 351 
should not apply. Because otherwise "The ability of businesses to recruit out of state 
employees would be adversely affected if the spouse of a potential employee would have 
to forfeit protection from statute of limitations in order to be with his or her spouse. This 
would place individuals in the precarious position of choosing between staying in the 
same location as one's spouse or give up protection from the statute of limitations."  
 
For this argument Cahill submitted a Declaration on May 1, 2004. Relying on the facts 
stated in this Declaration, the District Court endorsed Cahill’s argument and dismissed 
my action on May 27, 2004. The court found the application of 351 to Cahill "would 
have the effect of holding him hostage in a catch-22", in that if Defendant "chose to 
remain in California, he would be divided from his family, an untenable result." On this 
basis, the Court concluded that application of 351 affected Cahill family's mobility so the 
interstate commerce and then denied the tolling by 351 to Cahill. 
 
- Exhibit 2: Cahill’s Declaration to federal court. 
 
After the dismissal of my case, I began to verify Cahill’s Declaration for the District 
Court, since the court did not grant my request for discovery process to verify the facts 
stated in it. Without court order, I tried to contact the employers of Cahill and his wife, 
but was told only through court process I could access to the information. Then I began to 
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inquire about these facts through the Web sites of these employers and found out in 
August of 2004 that Cahill falsified an “employment history” at Institute for Advanced 
studies and concealed his own 4 years’ employment history at UC Berkeley and one year 
of his wife’s employment history at Reed College. I also hired a private investigator to 
search public records and the search result showed that Cahill and his wife Tsao in fact 
basically maintained separate residence since the accrual of the causes of my case. 
However, my motion for relief from the dismissal judgment based on this discovered 
fraud was denied by the court in December of 2004.  
 
I then began to investigate this Declaration of Cahill seriously. In February of 2005, I 
discovered that the “facts” stated in Cahill’s Declaration to federal court were in 
irreconcilable conflict with that he stated in his Declaration to California Superior Court 
one year ago. I made another motion for relief but again the court denied my motion in 
May of 2005.   
 
In May of 2005, I discovered that Cahill in this Declaration concealed a fact that his wife 
Tsao worked as a full time faculty member at Reed College of Oregon for academic year 
of 2000 – 2001, and claimed that he moved to Hawaii because his wife’s employment in 
Hawaii. I brought another motion for relief on grounds of fraud, but again the court 
denied my motion in July of 2005. 
 
In October of 2005, I filed my fourth motion for relief because I found that Cahill 
concealed he and his wife’s separate residential history for the period of October 1999 – 
October 2000. The court denied my motion in February of 2006. 
 
Here I summarize Cahill’s violations of federal penal code -   
 
[A] Violation of “Section 1621. Perjury generally” that provides:  
 

   Whoever - 
       (1) having taken an oath before a competent tribunal, officer, 
      or person, in any case in which a law of the United States 
      authorizes an oath to be administered, that he will testify, 
      declare, depose, or certify truly, or that any written testimony, 
      declaration, deposition, or certificate by him subscribed, is 
      true, willfully and contrary to such oath states or subscribes 
      any material matter which he does not believe to be true; or 
        (2) in any declaration, certificate, verification, or statement 
      under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 
      28, United States Code, willfully subscribes as true any material 
      matter which he does not believe to be true; 
    is guilty of perjury and shall, except as otherwise expressly 
    provided by law, be fined under this title or imprisoned not more 
    than five years, or both.  This section is applicable whether the 
    statement or subscription is made within or without the United 
    States. 
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In his Declaration made before the federal court, while under penalty of perjury, Cahill 
knowingly testified to a set of “facts” that he knew not true: 
 
[1]  Cahill falsified an employment history for himself in New Jersey for one year. 
 
Contrary to Cahill's claim that he was employed by Institute of Advanced Studies for 
academic year of 1998 -1999, he was not employed by the Institute in 1998 - 1999, but 
was only an unpaid "visitor" at the School of Historical Studies at the Institute for the 
first term which ranged for three months only.  (Neither was his wife Hsingyuan Tsao 
employed by the Institute. She was only a "member" - an out side scholar who applied as 
young scholar to do research there at the same school, funded by some grants from the 
Institute for that academic year. Meanwhile she was still employed by Reed College as an 
assistant professor in art history, (on leave for 1998-1999). ) Cahill willfully used this 3 
months' non-employment history to claim a one-year's employment history (1998-1999), 
so defrauded the Court that refused the tolling of this whole year under s. 351 of CCP. 
 
The direct evidences for this falsity: 
- Exhibit 3: Member and visitor list of the Institute of Advanced Studies for 1998-1999 

from the Institution’s official Web site. 
- Exhibit 4: letter from the Institute explaining that a visitor is not deemed employee. 
 
[2]  Cahill falsified his residential history that since the accrual of the causes of my 
action, except for his own “employment” in New Jersey, he and his wife always resided 
together in different states while his wife pursuing out state employment. 
 
This is contrary to the real fact that they basically maintained a separate residential 
history in different dates for these periods. Cahill did so by:  
 
(a)   Falsifying his own residential history that he resided in Oregon WITH his wife Tsao 
for 11 months. Cahill stated that he moved to Oregon in September of 1996, and since 
then stayed in Oregon with his wife till June of 1998, with only a break in summer of 
1997. Yet the real fact, as testified in his Declaration to state court on February 13, 2003, 
is that Cahill moved to Oregon in October of 1995 and then returned to Berkeley, 
California in May of 1996. It was only a period of about 7 months that he stayed in 
Oregon with Tsao. Then he stayed in Berkeley more than one year from May of 1996 to 
August of 1997 (apart from Tsao who was still residing in Oregon) when he moved to 
Oregon again, and stayed there until August of 1998. So out of this one and half years' 
history (from September of 1996 to June of 1998) that Cahill claimed he lived with his 
wife in Oregon, there was a whole one year's period that he in fact did NOT live with his 
wife Tsao in Oregon, but in stead resided in Berkeley, California. 
 
This is evidences by his own Declaration to San Francisco Superior Court,  
 
- (see Exhibit 1) 
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(b)  Concealing his employment history at the Graduate School of UC from 1994 to 1998, 
while Tsao was in Oregon employed by Reed College. Cahill did so to cover up his 
residential history in Berkeley during this period, separate from Tsao.  
 
The direct evidence for this falsity:  
 
- Exhibit 5: Cahill’s own statement in his curriculum vita from UC Berkeley’s official 
web site, (now he revised his page and concealed this employment history).   
 
(c)  Concealing his wife Tsao’s employment history at Reed College for year 1994, and 
their separate residential histories in different states for these periods.  
 
In this Declaration, Cahill made a vogue statement that "My wife had accepted a teaching 
position at Reed College in Oregon, and in September 1996 I moved to Portland". This 
was purported to make it appear that his move to Oregon was an immediate result of 
Tsao's move to Oregon to support his allegation of "move to stay with wife as her 
spouse". On contrary, the real fact is that Tsao moved to Oregon in 1994 for employment 
with Reed College, Cahill then was residing in Berkeley, California, and only moved to 
Oregon more than one year's later after that. 
 
The direct evidence for this falsity:  
- Exhibit 6: section “Trustees and Faculties” in Reed College’s College Catalog from 
Reed’s official web site. 
- (Also see Exhibit 1, Cahill’s own testimony) 
  
(d)  Concealing his wife Tsao’s employment history at Reed College for academic year 
2000-2001. Cahill testified to federal court: "In August 2000, I moved to Hawaii where 
my wife taught at the University of Hawaii until August 2003." However, when he 
moved to Hawaii in August of 2000, his wife Hsingyuan Tsao was still employed at Reed 
College, in Portland, Oregon, as a full time faculty member in Art Department for the 
2000 - 2001 academic year. She during this period resided at 3628 Se Martins St, 
Portland of Organ, apart from Cahill who was residing in Hawaii. And even after Tsao 
left her position at Reed College, she still maintained her own residence at 3628 Se 
Martins St, Portland of Organ, and resided there for different periods until 2003, apart 
from Cahill, who was living in Hawaii until 2003.  Cahill did so because this real fact 
will have to lead to a conclusion that at least half of the time for period of 2000 to 2003 
must be tolled under s. 351 of CCP. Since in fact he moved away from his wife in Oregon 
who was still full time employed there, it means that his moving to Hawaii was not to 
“stay in same location” with his wife in order to be her spouse.  
 
The direct evidence for this falsity:  
- Exhibit 7: public records search result for both Cahill and Tsao’s residential address 
history, which shows (1) Tsao’s residential history at 3628 Se Martins St, Portland of 
Organ until October 2003; (2) for the same period, Cahill did not reside at the same 
location but in Hawaii. 
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- (See Exhibit 1 and 2: Cahill’s own Declarations both to San Francisco Superior Court 
and federal court in that he testified that he resided in Hawaii from August of 2000. He 
did not testify that he resided in Oregon for this period.) 
 
- For Tsao’s employment with Reed College for academic year 2000 to 2001, I have this 
knowledge but am not able to provide material evidence here, as I was told by Reed 
College that they would only provide me the material information by a court order. 
 
(e) Concealing another period of he and his wife's separate residential history: Tsao 
maintained her own residence at 18 Earle Ln, Princeton, New Jersey from September 
1999 to October 2000, apart from Cahill who was then residing in Oregon until August 
2000 when he moved to Hawaii. 
 
The direct evidence for this falsity:  
- (See Exhibit 7: public records search result about Tsao’s residential history.) 
 
Now with all these evidences, the fact is clear that except the first two years of their 
marriage in 1992 when Cahill and Tsao both resided in Berkeley as professor and student 
at UC Berkeley, during their marriage life in US from 1994 to 2003, Cahill’s wife 
Hsingyuan Tsao in fact basically maintained her own residences separate from Cahill 
until 2003, and near half of the time in the between did not reside with Cahill. That is: for 
the period between 1994 and 1998 while Tsao was out of state for employment in 
Oregon, there was one year (1994-1995) and another thirteen months' period (1996-1997) 
that Cahill did not stay in same location with Tsao. So it is totaled more than two years 
out of this four years’ period. Then out of the three years’ period from 2000 to 2003, 
there were at least one and half years they did not reside in the same location, because 
Tsao resided in Oregon for her employment with Reed for academic year 2000-2001, and 
afterwards continued residing there for different periods until 2003. As a result of this 
real history, s. 351 of the CCP will have to apply and with the tolling, my action against 
Cahill will not be defeated on basis of statute of limitation.  
 
 
(B). Violation of “Section 1623 of the USC - False declarations before grand jury or 
court” that provides:  
 

(a) Whoever under oath (or in any declaration, certificate, 
    verification, or statement under penalty of perjury as permitted 
    under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code) in any 
    proceeding before or ancillary to any court or grand jury of the 
    United States knowingly makes any false material declaration or 
    makes or uses any other information, including any book, paper, 
    document, record, recording, or other material, knowing the same to 
    contain any false material declaration, shall be fined under this 
    title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both. 
      (b) This section is applicable whether the conduct occurred 
    within or without the United States. 
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      (c) An indictment or information for violation of this section 
    alleging that, in any proceedings before or ancillary to any court 
    or grand jury of the United States, the defendant under oath has 
    knowingly made two or more declarations, which are inconsistent to 
    the degree that one of them is necessarily false, need not specify 
    which declaration is false if - 
        (1) each declaration was material to the point in question, and 
        (2) each declaration was made within the period of the statute 
      of limitations for the offense charged under this section. 
    In any prosecution under this section, the falsity of a declaration 
    set forth in the indictment or information shall be established 
    sufficient for conviction by proof that the defendant while under 
    oath made irreconcilably contradictory declarations material to the 
    point in question in any proceeding before or ancillary to any 
    court or grand jury.  It shall be a defense to an indictment or 
    information made pursuant to the first sentence of this subsection 
    that the defendant at the time he made each declaration believed 
    the declaration was true. 
      (d) Where, in the same continuous court or grand jury proceeding 
    in which a declaration is made, the person making the declaration 
    admits such declaration to be false, such admission shall bar 
    prosecution under this section if, at the time the admission is 
    made, the declaration has not substantially affected the 
    proceeding, or it has not become manifest that such falsity has 
    been or will be exposed. 
      (e) Proof beyond a reasonable doubt under this section is 
    sufficient for conviction.  It shall not be necessary that such 
    proof be made by any particular number of witnesses or by 
    documentary or other type of evidence.  

 
 
In his Declaration to federal court, Cahill testified to a set of "facts" irreconcilably 
contradictory to that he testified in his Declaration made a year ago on Feb. 13, 2003 to 
the state court. My state court case was ancillary to my federal court case, because the 
both made essentially same claims against same Defendant Cahill and the district court 
dismissed one of my claims based on the state court’s dismissal of my complaint to state 
court. These two declarations made by Cahill are inconsistent to the degree that one of 
them is necessarily false. 
 
- (See Exhibit 1 and 2)  
 
Cahill’s first Declaration (to state court) testified that he moved to Oregon to stay with 
his wife in October of 1995 and then returned to Berkeley, California in May of 1996. It 
was only a period of about 7 months that he stayed in Oregon with Tsao. Then he stayed 
in Berkeley more than one year from May of 1996 to August of 1997 (while Tsao was 
still residing in Oregon) when he moved to Oregon again, and stayed there until August 
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of 1998. Yet his second Declaration (to federal court), Cahill testified that he moved to 
Oregon to stay with his wife in September of 1996, and since then stayed in Oregon with 
his wife till June of 1998, with only a summer break in 1997.  
 
Here the irreconcilable conflict is that, for the same period of May, 1996 to August, 1997, 
total 15 months, according to the first Declaration, Cahill resided in Berkeley, California, 
(NOT with his wife Tsao who was residing in Oregon) for the whole15 months. Yet 
according to his second Declaration, he resided NOT in Berkeley, California, but in 
Oregon WITH his wife Tsao for 11 months out of this 15 months. So for the same period, 
the two declarations show “facts” that are contradicting each other for both location and 
time, i.e. when the second Declaration says that Cahill moved to live with his wife in 
Oregon from September of 1996, his first Declaration says at that time he was still 
residing in Berkeley, California, not with his wife.  
 
Cahill knowingly committed these perjuries. No any ordinary person would forget about 
his own recent residential history and that he just reviewed and testified under penalty of 
perjury a year ago. This is particularly evidenced by that, when Cahill’s attorney 
Laurenson sent me this Declaration to the federal court on May 3, 2004, it was not 
executed, (no Cahill's signature). After a telephone inquiry I found the copy that Cahill 
filed with the court was also unexecuted. I wrote to counsel Laurenson and the court. 
Then I received the copy executed by Cahill under penalty of perjury on May 1, 2004. 
This incident obviously was caused Cahill’s own self-consciousness of his crime of 
perjury. 
 
Therefore, Michael Laurenson, as attorney on record for Cahill, had a role for all the 
perjuries that Cahill committed as stated above. Therefore, Laurenson has violated USC, 
Section 1622. Subornation of perjury which provides:  
 

Whoever procures another to commit any perjury is guilty of subornation of 
perjury, and shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, 
or both. 

 
 
{V} Threat of my life security by John Do (cpetr13) 
 
On December 19, 2005, while I was posting on Yahoo’s Message Board to reveal my 
case, I received a threat that told me: “neither america nor canada is afraid of 
‘disappearing’ people who they think actually pose a threat to them. So the fact that you 
are here and not gitmo, some yukon cell, or six feet under ALONE should tell you that 
they jut don't give a damn about what you think. Your lawsuit isn't some global 
conspiracy.”  
 
- Exhibit 8: cpetr13’s December 19 post. 
 
This poster was named “ceptr13”. He identified himself as “American”. Here he was 
speaking for the US government and did so as if a knowledgeable insider of the 
government. Here the message is very clear- the government of US can use unlawful 
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force to “disappear” people whom the government perceives as a real threat by abduction, 
secret jailing and killing. This is the most well-known Fascist practice by Fascist 
governments towards their political dissidents. This ceptr13 deliberately related this fact 
to me to send me a threat that if I continue to reveal my case on Internet, I might be 
perceived as a “real threat” by the US government and be made “disappear”.  
 
Further, he again made death threats to me on December 27, 2005, that says: “Honey, a 
persecution complex is merely the flip side of egotism. Your conspiracy includes far too 
many people organizations who are far more likely to eliminate you than put up with 
endless contentious litigation and threats.” On May 15, 2006, he replied to my post about 
his threats and stated “I am an american.”  
 
- Exhibit 9: cpetr13’s December 27 post. 
- Exhibit 10: cpetr13’s May 15, 2006 post. 
 
This was committed after I had already revealed his first threat on the same Yahoo’s 
message board and other boards by my posts. Obviously this “cpetr13” was most likely a 
US government agent. As such he knew he was carrying out his task for the government 
to intimidate my fight against the US government and therefore is protected by the US 
government, would never be sanctioned by any criminal law. Even if he was not an agent 
of the US government, he dared to do so, it could only be that he knew for sure that to 
me, a racial minority who is apparently a subject of racial persecution by governments of 
US and Canada so undoubtedly not protected by law, he would not face any sanction at 
law for committing such crime against me. Therefore the US government’s endorsement 
of this threat caused the escalation of this crime. And now the US government is 
continuing its approval of such crime against civil rights of a racial minority person by 
refusal to investigate my complaint against this crime.  
  
As a result of these threats, the security of my life is endangered, as I will have to 
continue posting my story on the Internet and reveal it to the world public. And this threat 
to the security of my life is for purpose to intimidate me from speaking out about the 
abuses of my civil rights in US and Canada and from lawful litigation against the 
perpetrators of my human rights. My right to freedom of speech and my right to access to 
court and justice are guaranteed by the US Constitution, and so these are federally 
protected activities. Now these rights of mine has been violated by cpetr13. Therefore, 
this is a crime against civil rights in violation of Section 245. Federally protected 
activities of the US Code which provides: 
 

(b) Whoever, whether or not acting under color of law, by force or threat of force 
willfully injures, intimidates or interferes with, or attempts to injure, intimidate or 
interfere with - 
(1) any person because he is or has been, or in order to intimidate such person or 
any other person or any class of persons from - 
 (A) voting or qualifying to vote, qualifying or campaigning as a candidate for 
elective office, or qualifying or acting as a poll watcher, or any legally authorized 
election official, in any primary, special, or general election; 

 
Liao's Complaint  

 

15



 (B) participating in or enjoying any benefit, service, privilege, program, facility, 
or activity provided or administered by the United States; 
(C) applying for or enjoying employment, or any perquisite thereof, by any 
agency of the United States; 
 (D) serving, or attending upon any court in connection with possible service, as a 
grand or petit juror in any court of the United States; 
 (E) participating in or enjoying the benefits of any program or activity receiving 
Federal financial assistance; or 
(2) any person because of his race, color, religion or national origin and because 
he is or has been - 
(A) enrolling in or attending any public school or public college; 
(B) participating in or enjoying any benefit, service, privilege, program, facility or 
activity provided or administered by any State or subdivision thereof; 
(C) applying for or enjoying employment, or any perquisite thereof, by any 
private employer or any agency of any State or subdivision thereof, or joining or 
using the services or advantages of any labor organization, hiring hall, or 
employment agency; 
 (D) serving, or attending upon any court of any State in connection with possible 
service, as a grand or petit juror; 
(E) traveling in or using any facility of interstate commerce, or using any vehicle, 
terminal, or facility of any common carrier by motor, rail, water, or air; 
(F) enjoying the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 
accommodations of any inn, hotel, motel, or other establishment which provides 
lodging to transient guests, or of any restaurant, cafeteria, lunchroom, lunch 
counter, soda fountain, or other facility which serves the public and which is 
principally engaged in selling food or beverages for consumption on the premises, 
or of any gasoline station, or of  any motion picture house, theater, concert hall, 
sports arena, stadium, or any other place of exhibition or entertainment which 
serves the public, or of any other establishment which serves the public and (i) 
which is located within the premises of any of the aforesaid establishments or 
within the premises of which is physically located any of the aforesaid 
establishments, and (ii) which holds itself out as serving patrons of such 
establishments; or 
(3) during or incident to a riot or civil disorder, any person engaged in a business 
in commerce or affecting commerce, including, but not limited to, any person 
engaged in a business which sells or offers for sale to interstate travelers a       
substantial portion of the articles, commodities, or services which it sells or where 
a substantial portion of the articles or commodities which it sells or offers for sale 
have moved in commerce; or 
(4) any person because he is or has been, or in order to intimidate such person or 
any other person or any class of persons from - 
(A) participating, without discrimination on account of race, color, religion or 
national origin, in any of the benefits or activities described in subparagraphs 
(1)(A) through (1)(E) or subparagraphs (2)(A) through (2)(F); or 
(B) affording another person or class of persons opportunity or protection to so 
participate; or 
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(5) any citizen because he is or has been, or in order to intimidate such citizen or 
any other citizen from lawfully aiding or encouraging other persons to participate, 
without discrimination on account of race, color, religion or national origin, in 
any of the benefits or activities described in subparagraphs (1)(A) through (1)(E) 
or subparagraphs (2)(A) through (2)(F), or participating lawfully in speech or 
peaceful assembly opposing any denial of the opportunity to so participate 
      - 
shall be fined under this title, or imprisoned not more than one year, or both; and 
if bodily injury results from the acts committed in violation of this section or if 
such acts include the use, attempted use, or threatened use of a dangerous weapon, 
explosives, or fire shall be fined under this title, or imprisoned not more than ten 
years, or both; and if death results from the acts committed in violation of this 
section or if such acts include kidnapping or an attempt to kidnap, aggravated 
sexual abuse or an attempt to commit aggravated sexual abuse, or an attempt to 
kill, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned for any term of years or for life, 
or both, or may be sentenced to death.  As used in this section, the term 
''participating lawfully in speech or peaceful assembly'' shall not mean the aiding, 
abetting, or inciting of other persons to riot or to commit any act of physical 
violence upon any individual or against any real or personal property in 
furtherance of a riot.  … 

 
 
I strongly and urgently request you, the US Attorneys to investigate and prosecute these 
crimes committed against me. It is your mandate to prosecute federal crimes under US 
law. I reserve the right to take legal action if you refuse to carry out your legal duty. 
Here I am sending you this complaint by fax, so I omitted all the exhibits. I will enclose 
them when I mail this complaint to you.  
 
 
Wanxia Liao 
 
Complainant 
 
June 13, 2009 
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